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Introduction



ONE MIDWINTER DAY, in January 1786, during a gap in the seemingly interminable wars between Britain and France, a shy Irish teenager was sent off to a French school to learn to be a soldier. His father had died and his mother had almost despaired of him. ‘I don’t know what I shall do with my awkward son Arthur,’ she grumbled. His father had been an Irish earl, part of that curious Protestant minority known as the Anglo-Irish. They had tried to make something of Arthur by sending him to Eton. But that had been hopeless. The boy was lonely and idle. Just about all he could do was play the violin. He came fifty-fourth out of seventy-nine boys in the fourth form. So when he was seventeen Arthur’s exasperated mother sent him off to the French equestrian school at Angers. The only thing to do with the feckless younger son of an aristocratic family was to try and make him a soldier. France was the place you learned to be a man in those days, and Angers might just give him the skills and the fibre to survive in the army.


The school in France did a lot more than that. The young Arthur Wesley – the family name would be changed to Wellesley by his ambitious elder brother, Richard – emerged from Angers after just one year’s study of horsemanship, fencing and the humanities with a new self-assurance. He was to build on the knowledge and skills he had gained in France to confront French armies on the battlefield and eventually to destroy the French Emperor Napoleon himself. And Arthur Wellesley would become the Duke of Wellington. This book is the story of how this once unpromising boy led one of the most successful military enterprises in British history through seven years of struggle, from its first small-scale landing in Portugal to the battlefield of Waterloo. It is the story of how this withdrawn but single-minded soldier turned a band of men he described as the ‘scum of the earth’ into one of the world’s finest armies, and how together they helped defeat Napoleon.


The men we meet in these pages were as varied an assortment of characters as ever went to war, from brutish scoundrels to the thoughtful and humane. Wellington was a military genius, his personality a curious mix of aloof intolerance, dry wit and an occasional flash of humanity. It was astonishing how a man so arrogant, so class conscious and so insensitive could become such a national hero by the time he was forty-five. Wellington was to go on, after Waterloo, to dominate British public life for decades, as a conservative prime minister and an opponent of electoral reform. But the reason he remained a legendary figure until the day he died was the debt that Britain and Europe owed him for undermining and finally defeating Napoleon Bonaparte.


Wellington was, above all, a lucky man. Lucky in that he escaped death so often when many of his senior colleagues and aides were killed or wounded around him. But lucky too in the great advantage the privilege of aristocracy gave him in launching his career. It was an oddity of the age that it wasn’t merit but money and connections that won promotion in the army. His brother Richard, well on the way to high office in London, was to play a vital part in Arthur’s career in the years between his return from Angers and the launch of the great adventure in Portugal.


Arthur Wellesley came back from Angers a superb horseman, speaking fluent French and with the glint of ambition in his eye. He duly took his turn to be MP for Trim and, with Richard’s help, bought his way to the rank of lieutenant colonel by 1793. Yet when he proposed marriage to the daughter of Lord Longford, Kitty Pakenham, Longford judged him a fellow of such little promise that he made her reject him. Arthur, his pride dented, set his heart on active service. He gave away his violin and set off to join the war against revolutionary France as a commander in the Netherlands just as Napoleon Bonaparte, only thirteen weeks younger than him, became commander of the French artillery at Toulon. In the years after the Revolution of 1789, France had guillotined its aristocrats and was at war with its neighbours. It wouldn’t be long before, under Napoleon, it evolved into a rampant imperial power bent on dominating the whole of Europe.


Then in 1796 Arthur’s career took a turn that was to give him a decisive boost. His regiment – the 33rd Yorkshire West Riding, later to become the Duke of Wellington’s – was posted to India. And by a lucky coincidence his brother Richard was appointed governor general of India a year later. Richard promptly named the fourth of his five brothers, Henry, his private secretary and vowed to do what he could to further the career of Arthur, who had preceded him to the subcontinent as an army colonel. In 1799 Richard (who became Marquess Wellesley at the end of that year) ordered the invasion of the southern state of Mysore on the ground that its ruler Tippoo Sultan was too close to the French. Arthur Wellesley took Tippoo’s capital Seringapatam by storm on 4 May.


By the summer of 1803 Arthur, now a major general, was commanding the British force of 7,000 that confronted the 44,000-strong army of the Maratha states at Assaye 200 miles north-east of Bombay. He scored a masterly victory. Looking for a way to fight the Marathas on favourable ground, he spotted two villages either side of a river. Rightly guessing that the river would be fordable there, he led his army across and with his Indian troops outflanked and defeated his opponents. One of Arthur’s young lieutenants wrote: ‘The general was in the thick of the action the whole time and had a horse killed under him. No man could have shown a better example to the troops than he did. I never saw a man so cool and collected as he was.’


By mid-December Arthur had defeated the Marathas again at Argaum. He returned from India in 1805 an accomplished field commander. He had discovered the vital importance of intelligence in establishing the whereabouts and strength of his enemy. He had learned how to use the terrain and understood the importance of keeping his men supplied however unforgiving the countryside. He had seen the value of leading by example and making brisk decisions. He came home determined to fight Napoleon, by now Emperor of France, master of most of Europe and a major threat to Britain. The struggle between the British and French empires for world hegemony was reaching its height. Arthur trusted that his record would propel him to high command. But in the eyes of his military rivals he was still – as Napoleon put it later – only a ‘sepoy general’. The man who had made his name commanding Indian forces so skilfully still had to prove he could lead a substantial British force in the war against the French Empire in Europe.


Arthur Wellesley also came home with a reputation as a bit of a ladies’ man. He had had one particularly close relationship with the wife of one of his captains. Still smarting at the way his proposal of marriage had been rejected ten years before, he proposed to Kitty again. This time his increased stature induced Lord Longford to change his mind, and Kitty accepted. They married in April 1806. It was a sad mistake on both sides. As time went on, she became deeply introverted and self-absorbed, quite unable to play the wife to someone as renowned and sexually eligible as Arthur. Even before he married her, he let slip the telling aside that he now found that she had grown ugly, and he later told a great friend that that he had been ‘a damned fool’ to marry someone like Kitty. ‘I was not the least in love with her.’


Wellesley saw some active service in Germany and Denmark in the next two years. But the opportunity that was to change his life – and the course of history – came in 1808. He was sent with a modest force to open a new front against Napoleon on the west coast of Portugal. The men he brought with him were not only about to take the first firm step on Britain’s road to Waterloo. They were also to launch a literary revolution. This was the first campaign in history to give rise to a rich tide of eyewitness accounts by those who fought it. In the post-war years a generation of new readers, with an appetite for stories about what they called the Great War, proved an attractive market for memoirs about the conflict. Growing literacy in early Victorian Britain inspired soldiers, from generals down to privates, to record their accounts of what had happened. Wellington himself wrote copious letters and despatches.


Everything from the fighting itself to the camaraderie and skulduggery of camp life and the mischief the men got up to in the local villages is revealed in these first-hand accounts by those who were there. Some wrote journals at the time, when their memories were fresh – men like George Simmons, who kept three notebooks in his hat. Others, like Rifleman Benjamin Harris, recounted their stories months or even years afterwards. Many exaggerate British prowess and downplay that of the French. But all bring the horror, the suffering, the hopes and the fears of the soldiers alive in strikingly modern language. The men who landed in the Iberian Peninsula with Wellesley were about to make a contribution to the human story of warfare in a detail and a variety that the world had never seen before.
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Wellington’s Peninsular War





1
First foothold



Mondego Bay, August 1808


IT TOOK THE best part of two weeks to unload the ships. The weather wasn’t the problem. It was fine – hot and sticky by day, crisp and clear at night. The snag was the swell piling in across 3,000 miles of open Atlantic on to Portugal’s unprotected coast. The lumpy transport vessels rolled so much on anchor that the yards at times almost touched the water. Captain Jonathan Leach, a young rifleman who had had to wait six days for the order to disembark, complained that the motion had ‘caused some awful breakages amongst our wine glasses’.


It was 1 August 1808, the height of summer. George Landmann, an ambitious young engineer, was on the deck of his ship as she slipped into Mondego Bay to join the other seventy British transports and warships bobbing about. Suddenly the boredom of walking around the deck was ‘exchanged for a scene of the utmost activity’. Landmann’s cabin floor was covered in trunks, hats, boots, blankets, greatcoats, saddles and bridles. People were shouting, ‘What do you think I ought to take with me?’ or ‘Do you think we shall be many days away from the ship?’ Officers told their servants to assemble their kit. The servants were ‘tumbling down the companionway’ and knocking each other over, upon which the most ‘expressive epithets were exchanged’. Landmann decided to take as little as possible, and left his greatcoat behind. He was to regret it. He was soon back on deck using his spyglass to look for vessels to take people ashore. The bay was buzzing with activity as boats braved the surf to get men, guns and horses on to the beach. His ship was a mile and a half offshore; most of the others were further in and he could see a busy ferry service going on.


Charles Leslie and his regiment – the 29th of Foot – transferred into flat-bottomed boats soon after midday. But reaching the beach in the breaking rollers was a dangerous operation. ‘Several boats were upset and one containing a part of our grenadiers lost arms and everything and the men narrowly escaped with their lives.’ James Hale, from Gloucester, had earned himself a bounty of ten guineas twelve months earlier by signing up for seven years as an ordinary private. He and his 9th Regiment of Foot braved the surf on 2 August and they landed in style. The Portuguese, who by now were persuaded that the British troops had come not to invade their country but to rescue it from the French, decided to give them a dry landing. They ‘came running into the water, above their knees, to carry us out of the boats … and young women came flocking around about us with their aprons full of fruit’. Hale and his comrades all landed without getting their feet wet, but ‘one boat load … was upset by the violence of the heavy swell, in crossing the bar at the mouth of the River Mondego and unfortunately several soldiers and sailors were drowned’. It wasn’t unusual in those days for soldiers to be unable to swim.


The landing at Mondego Bay under Lieutenant General Sir Arthur Wellesley was Britain’s first tentative move in what would develop into a grand design to undermine Napoleon. It was the beginning of seven exhausting years of fighting on land that would bring out the best and the worst in a band of young British men. It would have its moments of gallantry and glory but mostly it was downright savage. Many of those who scrambled ashore that August hadn’t yet reached their late teens: few were more than thirty. Some were inspired by patriotism, the chance to join the mighty struggle to throw Napoleon out of Europe. Most were there for the adventure and the plunder and the chance to kill a few Frenchmen. Very few would survive the coming battles unscathed: most would die or suffer wounds that would leave them limbless or scarred for life. And disease, heat, cold and thirst would take an even greater toll than battle.


The small force of 9,000 men which landed with Wellesley was largely untried. Napoleon’s massive army had subdued most of Europe with victories as spectacular as Austerlitz, Jena and Friedland over the Austrians, Prussians and Russians. Compared to the French, the British soldiers piling on to the beach were novices. Few had fought in any major land campaign: if they had, they had been largely unsuccessful. Britain’s army had been neglected since the glorious days of Plassey and Quebec half a century earlier. The money had been spent on the Royal Navy, making Britain the strongest sea-power in the world. The army had played only a small part in the fight with Napoleon so far. But Wellesley’s force of 9,000 men would grow to 90,000 by the end of 1813 and play a decisive role in redrawing the map of Europe. It would plant a host of unforgettable names – of people as well as battles – in the annals of military history. And their leader, Arthur Wellesley, the reluctant choice of some of his masters in London in August 1808, would by 1815 become the world’s most admired soldier.


Wellesley was watching his troops struggling ashore. He too cursed the swell, but if he was to disembark within reach of his objective, Lisbon, which was occupied by the French, the landing had to be on Portugal’s ‘Iron Coast’, as he called it. There was simply no shelter for a hundred miles north of the Portuguese capital. He was standing on the deck of the fleet’s flagship, HMS Donegal. By an irony she had been captured from the French during their unsuccessful attempt to invade Wellesley’s native Ireland only a decade earlier.


Wellesley was still only thirty-nine, but he had come a long way from the diffident little boy with the violin. He was a slim, wiry man with sharp blue eyes and a pronounced nose. He had a habit of looking down it at people he despised. He radiated not warmth but confidence and command. He abhorred ostentation, dressing more often than not in smart but simple civilian clothes. He had no time for fools, and even with those he trusted he was reluctant to delegate authority. He was doing exactly what he wanted to do: going off to fight the French. Typically, he believed he was the obvious man for the job. If anyone could beat Napoleon and his marshals, he could. He told a friend: ‘I am not afraid of them [the French] as everyone else seems to be.’


A month earlier Wellesley’s boss, Lord Castlereagh, the Secretary of State for War, had given him command of an army with a challenging new mission. Napoleon, now master of Europe, who had seized Spain and Portugal the previous year, was subjecting the two countries to a cruel and ruthless occupation. He sat his own brother Joseph, a deeply inadequate and unappealing man, on the Spanish throne and imposed a repressive military rule on Portugal. Both nations rose in popular revolt against France. But if the rebels were to do any significant damage to Napoleon, they would need outside support. They soon found an ally in Britain, whose Royal Navy had been using Portuguese ports in its blockade of the French Empire but had now lost access to them. With Portugal in French hands only Swedish ports remained open to British ships. There was a compelling case for Britain to take the war with Napoleon to the Iberian Peninsula. On 30 June 1808 Castlereagh told Wellesley he would be given 14,000 troops ‘to be deployed under your orders in counteracting the designs of the enemy and in affording to the Spanish and Portuguese nations every possible aid to throwing off the yoke of France’. It was a major opportunity for Wellesley. He believed that British troops, well led, could be more than a match for the French. But it was a formidable challenge. Few of the men he commanded had fought with him before. The officers and ordinary soldiers he would mould into his formidable Peninsular Army were no band of brothers – yet. He had only a few trusted friends with him from the beginning.


One was his old comrade Rowland Hill, a major general, a dependable soldier and a kind and generous leader. The men he commanded affectionately called him ‘Daddy’. George Bell, one of Hill’s junior officers, referred to him as ‘our kind, good and amiable soldier-in-chief … with his honest, benevolent face’. Wellesley, who had got to know Hill in the Netherlands campaign, wrote: ‘I rejoice extremely at the prospect before me of serving again with you.’ Another early member of what would become a close-knit team was Lord James Henry Fitzroy Somerset, a bright but still largely untried youth of nineteen. He had been strongly recommended to Wellesley as ‘an active and intelligent fellow’ by his friend the Duke of Richmond. Fitzroy Somerset would be Wellesley’s chief aide de camp from that day on the deck of the Donegal to Waterloo seven years later.


But Wellesley’s hopes were to suffer one early setback. The government in London began to contemplate the implications of landing a force on the continent to capture Lisbon, and decided that to dislodge Napoleon’s General Junot and his army a larger force would be needed. And that called for a more senior commander than Wellesley, who was still a very junior lieutenant general. Wellesley sailed south, unaware that a hot debate raged in London between his supporters, Castlereagh and the Foreign Secretary George Canning, and the Duke of York, the Army Commander in Chief (and second son of King George III), who favoured other generals such as Sir John Moore. Moore was senior to Wellesley and had also enjoyed a distinguished military career. He was respected for his sponsorship and training of the rifle regiments which were fast being recognised as the elite units in the British army.


Two days after he set foot on the beach at Mondego Bay, Arthur Wellesley was seen by one of his staff heading south on horseback looking very crestfallen. It was not surprising. He had just received another despatch from Castlereagh, which had him struggling to swallow his resentment. It informed him that far from commanding the army to be landed in the Peninsula, he would be number three in the pecking order. ‘His Majesty has been pleased to entrust the command of his troops serving on the coast of Spain and Portugal to Lt Gen Sir Hew Dalrymple with Lt Gen Sir Harry Burrard second in command.’ Castlereagh, no doubt guessing that Wellesley would be deeply upset, went on to urge his protégé to make the most of his command ‘with every expedition that circumstances will permit’ without awaiting the arrival of the more senior generals. Wellesley was dismayed by the prospect of no longer being in charge. His view, as he explained to his subordinates, was ‘I didn’t know what the words “second in command” meant … I alone commanded the army.’ And yet here he was being instructed to take orders from at least two generals, Dalrymple and Burrard, with singularly undistinguished military careers. He wrote a private letter to his friend the Duke of Richmond expressing his strong sense of injured pride. ‘I hope I shall have beaten Junot before they arrive, and then they can do as they please with me.’


The landing at Mondego Bay was just about complete by the end of the first week of August. George Landmann had made it ashore, but he had been soaked to the skin when a wave broke over his boat. ‘Fortunately we did not capsize, and … a vast concourse of the people who had been watching our movements with great anxiety rushed into the sea and seizing our boat by the gunwales on each side dragged it … high and dry.’ Norbert Landsheit, a German cavalryman in British service, was a sergeant in the small cavalry detachment of 200 light dragoons Wellesley had brought with him. He had a nervous time landing his horses: ‘One punt capsized upon the surf, but no lives were lost, because the horses, sometimes swimming, sometimes wading, carried their riders ashore.’ And there weren’t just men with their guns and horses scrambling ashore: there were women and children too. It was a tradition of the British army that a handful of wives were permitted to travel with each regiment. They helped with the washing, sewing and cooking, and in return they were allowed to sleep with their husbands. Wellesley decreed that women would get half a man’s ration each day ‘and the children a quarter: but no spirits or wine will be issued to women or children’. The wives who came counted themselves lucky: each one who travelled had to endure fierce competition at the port of departure. Those left behind knew there was a good chance they would never see their husbands again.


Wellesley had chosen his landing spot well. He had a remarkable knack for judging the topography and the timing of any move forward – skills he was to perfect in the years that led to Waterloo. He had chosen Mondego Bay when he learned it was free of French troops. He also knew it was overlooked by a fort which some Portuguese rebels had secured and handed over to a small force of British marines. Once ashore, his men began to march. Even the rawest recruits in the army had marched before. But that was back home. Very few had marched in temperatures over 30 degrees centigrade. One of the youngest and newest was a young Scot, Thomas Todd. He had joined the army only after trying and failing to make a name for himself as an actor – he had been hissed off the stage at his first performance in Edinburgh. He and his comrades in the Highland Light Infantry, the 71st Regiment of Foot, marched for twelve miles ‘up to the knees in sand which caused us to suffer much from thirst. We lost four men of our regiment who died from thirst. We buried them where they fell.’ Todd later discovered a remedy for thirst. ‘I put a small pebble into my mouth and sucked it.’ It was no mean feat to tramp down that coast in the searing heat. Jonathan Leach said the sand was ‘hot enough almost to have dressed a beefsteak’. Each man had a big load to carry, a rucksack and seventy rounds of shot as well as the heavy firearm itself. Many were soon floundering. And it didn’t take long for the bright uniforms, red for the infantry, dark green for the riflemen and mainly blue for the small force of cavalry, to be caked in dust. The proud regiments rapidly became almost indistinguishable. George Landmann found himself riding beside one senior officer whose red coat looked no different in all the dust from his own bright-blue one.


The sandy terrain was part of the penalty Wellesley had to pay for keeping his men close to the shore: he had decided, wisely, to stay within reach of his fleet so that further reinforcements could join him easily. He had been reinforced by a brigade under General Spencer on 6 August, and was now marching on Lisbon. He had some 14,000 men – enough, he reckoned, to defeat Junot in battle whether the French commander chose to wait for the British near Lisbon or race north to meet them. The sooner the battle took place the better. Wellesley was determined to strike before he was superseded.


Wellesley may have been confident of his own leadership and even of the ability of his largely untried army, but he was fast becoming disillusioned by his new Spanish and Portuguese allies. The Spanish had promised to send a force to support him. There was no sign of it. He was promised 5,000 Portuguese troops but he told London the Portuguese were ‘afraid of the French’ and were unable to feed their own troops – let alone keep their promise to feed the British army and its horses. And as if this wasn’t enough Wellesley railed at his own British supply line, run by the so-called Commissary General. Wellesley had become obsessive about supply in India: his painstaking orchestration of his army’s logistics there had been an essential element of his success. ‘If I had rice and bullocks [for transport],’ he told a friend, ‘I had men, and if I had men I knew I could beat the enemy.’ He now made typically detailed demands of those who ran his supply line, the commissariat: ‘a quantity equal to three days’ consumption for 10,000 men must be carried if possible on the backs of mules … viz two bags or 224lbs on each mule; this will require 130 mules.’ But a few days later he was complaining to London that ‘I have had the greatest difficulty in organising my commissariat for the march, and that department is very incompetent. The existence of the army depends upon it, and yet the people who manage it are incapable of managing anything out of a counting house.’


As they marched south, the British soldiers had their first taste of how the French treated the Portuguese. Junot’s invasion of Portugal had been barbaric. French troops had barnstormed their way through the countryside with no regard for the inhabitants. The scale of the destruction was shocking. Houses were stripped, furniture burned, food looted. In one abandoned village, plundered by the French, there ‘were a great many wine stores that had been broken open … In a large wine cask we found a French soldier, drowned …’ The looting, slaughter and burning provoked bitter resentment. Hatred of the French in Portugal and Spain became so intense that few Frenchmen were safe if they were caught alone away from their units. Wellesley was determined his army should not fall into the same trap. In his view Junot’s treatment of the population was not just brutal and dishonourable: it was foolish. Wellesley knew that his army’s success would depend on local goodwill. In contrast to the French, he imposed a ruthless regime of punishment for those who failed to respect local property. A good lashing was the usual punishment, but the worst offenders were hanged. This didn’t endear him to his soldiers, whose first impression of their new leader was that he was devoid of warmth and humanity.


The men marched on, struggling with the heat and discomfort. Only the small force of cavalry – the 20th Light Dragoons – were all on horseback, though some infantry officers had their own mounts, anything from spirited stallions to stubborn mules. Buying a horse, if you could afford one, was seen as the only sure way to survive a gruelling campaign. The trouble was you could end up with a dud. George Landmann thought he had a good deal when he bought a pony off a brother officer, but it turned out to be hopelessly lethargic: much of the time he had to walk in front of it, dragging it along by the bridle. The horses could be a menace if the men were sleeping among them at night in the open: occasionally they would break their tethers and go charging around out of control. If you wanted to avoid being trampled, the best place to sleep was under a wagon.


Even so, several times horses came so near the wagon Landmann was sleeping under that he had to jump up ‘throwing my arms about and shaking my blanket in their faces’. And at night there was the cold to contend with. Landmann soon realised his mistake in leaving his greatcoat on the ship. He couldn’t sleep. He wrote in his journal that the ground was so wet with dew that ‘I remained shivering until the bugle sounded the hour for morning parade about three o’clock.’


Wellesley was now hastening south, and his fast-developing intelligence network of scouts and local Portuguese spies told him that Junot’s army was split. When the French general heard of the landing, he urgently recalled a brigade – around 3,000 men – under General Loison which he had sent off to eastern Portugal. He directed it north to join another force under General Delaborde about thirty miles north of Lisbon. The two of them were ordered to try and block Wellesley’s advance on the Portuguese capital. With Loison still hours away, Delaborde had just 4,000 troops facing Wellesley’s approaching army of some 14,000. He was heavily outnumbered. But Delaborde had a good eye for the ground and he selected a position in and behind the village of Roliça. It was to be the scene of the first battle between Britain and France in the Peninsular War.


Wellesley and his generals could see Roliça three miles away at the far end of a valley. The village was on the valley floor, and behind it the land rose very sharply with deep ravines offering tortuous access to a plateau at the top. Delaborde’s plan – a brave one – was to make a show of defending the village, then to withdraw to the powerful hilltop position behind it and some 500 feet above it. Wellesley knew that, although he had the advantage of numbers, the terrain was against him, and he did not know yet how well his men would fight. Nor, to be fair, did his men know just how good Wellesley would be at conducting the battle. ‘Many of us,’ wrote Landmann later, ‘totally ignorant of our commander’s military skill, advanced towards the enemy anxiously looking for a sign’ of his competence. They did not have long to wait.


Wellesley divided his attacking force into three. He sent one group in a great wide sweep along the ridge to the left to swoop down on the village from the east and despatched another group including some light cavalry to outflank the French on the right. He himself led the main force of infantry right up the centre of the valley. The key formation in his main force was the battalion. He had fifteen of them as well as some Portuguese troops. Each battalion had, on paper, around a thousand men, in practice much less. George Landmann watched one battalion coming up to take its place in the move forward – the lst Battalion of the 29th Regiment (1/29th for short) – with its band playing a country dance. In the British army the regiment, which could consist of one or more battalions, was the essential focus of loyalty. Each regiment was fiercely proud of its own county or regional base. The 1/29th was from Worcestershire, and its commanding officer Lieutenant Colonel George Lake was at its head on a fine charger seventeen hands high, light brown, with a very long tail. Lake was dressed in an ‘entirely new suit, his hair was powdered … his cocked hat placed on his head square to the front’. ‘Colonel,’ said Landmann, ‘you are dressed as if you were going to be received by the king.’ ‘Egad, sir,’ replied Lake, ‘if I am killed today I mean to die like a gentleman.’
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The Battle of Roliça


Each of the battalions had small groups of skirmishers who fought ahead of them and on their flanks. Their task was to probe and harry the enemy, taking pot-shots at individual Frenchmen with their Baker rifles. Designed by Ezekiel Baker a decade earlier, the new weapon’s rifled barrel gave it longer range but made it a little slower to load than the smoothbore musket. As the army advanced on Roliça, the riflemen, like Jonathan Leach in the dark-green uniform of the 95th Regiment, were out ahead needling the French front line. The superior range of their rifles allowed them to blunt the impetus of an enemy advance by picking off men in exposed positions on the other side. They targeted French skirmishers like themselves, and attempted to disrupt the neat pattern of advancing infantry columns.


Each rifleman darted from one bit of cover to another loading his weapon just like a musket, which was what most other soldiers carried. It took him thirty seconds to grab a cartridge from his pouch, bite away the musket ball attached to the end of it and hold it in his mouth, pouring some of the powder from the ripped-open cartridge on to the pan. Then he poured the rest of the powder down the barrel, shoved the one-ounce lead ball on top of it and rammed it in with the now empty cartridge paper. When he pulled the trigger, a flint would snap forward, causing a spark as it hit the metal frizzen and igniting the powder in the tray. The flash travelled through a small hole into the breech and exploded the powder, sending the shot spinning along the rifled barrel. The ball would be propelled more than three times as far as its counterpart in the smooth-bore barrel of the ordinary infantryman’s musket. Compared to the rifle’s range of some 300 yards, a ball fired from a musket would be virtually spent after as little as eighty yards. But a musket ball striking at short range did dreadful damage to human tissue. It expanded as it entered the body and caused catastrophic wounds. Muskets were faster to load: there was no rifling to impede the ball and cartridge as they were stuffed down the barrel. A dab hand with a musket could get a shot off in twenty seconds, ten seconds faster than a rifle. But, the musket’s effective range being so short, even the deftest of soldiers would be lucky to get off more than one lethal shot at an enemy charging straight at him.


Benjamin Harris was a Dorset shepherd who had joined the riflemen because he ‘fell so in love with their smart, dashing and devil-may-care appearance’. He was now in combat with the 95th Rifles for the first time. He was sent off with Jonathan Leach’s company to tackle the French skirmishers. ‘All was action with us Rifles … and the barrel of my piece was so hot from continual firing that I could hardly bear to touch it.’ For many soldiers in Wellesley’s army, such as Benjamin Harris and Thomas Todd, this was their first experience of battle and of the ghastly punishment dealt out by musket ball, sword and bayonet. Each of them had to confront that dreaded moment of self-doubt. Would they have the skill and the courage to tackle an enemy soldier intent on killing them? Once they were in the mêlée the doubt quickly vanished. For the first time they were fighting for their lives and that induced in almost everyone a fierce determination to kill in order to survive.


During a break in the fighting Leach took a moment to accept a swig of wine from a brother officer’s canteen. A musket ball passed through the canteen and severely wounded its owner. The canteen was shattered and Leach’s face was ‘splashed thoroughly with wine’. He felt a blow, ‘which cut my mouth and spun me round like a top. For a few moments I concluded I was wounded.’ But it was his friend who had got the worst of it: he was out of action for weeks.


While the riflemen were trying to confuse the enemy, Wellesley’s next task was to deliver his infantry – with their muskets – to within killing distance of the main French lines. They approached their enemy in column but, well before they reached them, they would fan out into lines in order to bring as many of their muskets to bear on the French as possible. A few hundred men in one or two ranks in line abreast could utterly destroy an enemy if they held their formation and their fire till they were at point-blank range, as little as thirty yards. But that required supreme coolness and discipline. Everything would depend on how well drilled Wellesley’s footsoldiers would be under fire, compared with the French.


The first phase of the battle passed fairly quickly. Delaborde, still without Loison’s reinforcement, had already decided not to make a major stand in the village but to retire to his second position on the escarpment overlooking it. Before the British could engage the whole enemy line at close quarters, the French pulled back to the hillside. This was when the real struggle began. Jonathan Leach found the heat suffocating. ‘Every mouthful of air was such as is inhaled when looking into the oven.’ The French fought hard to defend the steep windy paths trailing down the hill in front of them. Lake’s battalion, the 1/29th, found itself ahead of the rest of Wellesley’s force and plunged deep into the French line.


Landmann’s impression was that the 29th had actually chosen ‘the steepest and most difficult ravine’. They were drowned in heavy musketry fire, which killed sixty men from the special grenadier company, the fittest and strongest element in the battalion. Traditionally they had been the men picked to throw grenades, which were now long out of use. They were elite troops whom Wellesley could ill afford to lose. ‘Poor Lake was killed at the commencement near the foot of the heights while riding at the head of his regiment and his horse was also killed it would appear at the same time; for when I saw them they were very near to each other … Thus died the Honourable George Lake “like a gentleman”.’ The leaderless 29th owed a lot at that moment to Wellesley’s old friend Major General Rowland Hill. Harris watched him gallop across, rally the troops and lead them in a charge. ‘Few men could have conducted the business with more coolness and quietude of manner, under such a storm of balls as he was exposed to.’


Wellesley too was seldom far behind the front line. He knew that in a fast-moving battle command and control were the most critical features of leadership. And the surest way of communicating orders was for the commander to deliver them to subordinate commanders in person. He was never still, his telescope at his eye, members of his staff, like Fitzroy Somerset, frantically trying to keep up with him as they cantered from unit to unit. Wellesley was able to relieve pressure on the 29th only when his troops’ superior numbers prevailed and the British managed to scale the hill, obliging the French to retire. The 29th had lost 300 men and their colours. In the despatch Wellesley wrote to London that night, he implied that Lake had been foolish to launch his attack without waiting for other units to join him. He reported that they had ‘attacked with the utmost impetuosity, and reached the enemy before those whose attacks were to be made on their flanks’. But in a rare show of feeling Wellesley wrote a very sympathetic letter to Lake’s brother-in-law, a Mr R. Borough: ‘However acute may be the sensations which it may at first occasion, it must in the end be satisfactory to the family of such a man as Col Lake to know that he was respected and loved by the whole army …’


Others grieved that day. Benjamin Harris, the Dorset shepherd, had been standing beside a man called Joseph Cochan who suddenly fell dead with a bullet through his brain. He was one of the few men who had been accompanied by his wife, and Harris had the painful task of taking her to where her husband’s body lay on the battlefield. She dissolved in tears at the sight of his disfigured face, and Harris was so sorry for her he offered later to marry her. ‘She had, however, received too great a shock on the occasion of her husband’s death to think of marrying another soldier,’ and she soon went home to England.


The next day Landmann was appalled to see a Portuguese woman about to crack open the skull of a badly wounded French soldier so that she could rob him. His hand was on his sword to try and stop her when another soldier suddenly leaped out of the thicket, shouted at her that she was not a woman but a devil, put his rifle to her head and blew half of it off. ‘Bravo!’ shouted Landmann, and he then watched as the man ‘carefully untied the woman’s apron which was thickly filled with watches, rings, valuables of all kinds’. The man scooped them up, ‘darted from the spot and disappeared among the bushes casting at me a ferocious glance’.


Roliça was a savage little overture to the long Peninsular campaign that was to follow. The British had narrowly won. Wellesley’s casualties were 500 to Delaborde’s 700. Wellesley later reckoned Roliça was ‘one of our most important affairs … it was terrible hard work … our men fought monstrous well’. Both armies had now got the measure of each other. The British quickly realised that even with overwhelming numbers no battle with the French was going to be a walkover. And those French soldiers who had hoped that the British had forgotten how to fight on land were disappointed.


Jean Andoche Junot believed that the French were invincible. He was Napoleon’s commander in Portugal and a man who acted more on impulse than cool calculation. Even before he had a full report on the fierce fight at Roliça, he was already on his way north to fight Wellesley. He didn’t yet know that Sir Arthur was about to be reinforced by 4,000 men landing further down the Portuguese coast. Utterly confident of victory, Junot marched boldly north without even taking all his available troops with him. He left 6,000 of his 20,000 men to guard Lisbon.
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The Battle of Vimero (1)
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The Battle of Vimero (2)





2
You must have bribed Junot



Vimeiro, August 1808


WELLESLEY WAS DETERMINED not to lose momentum in his drive south. He wrote to Castlereagh saying he hoped to defeat the French, although he warned the government that he probably would not destroy them altogether ‘for want of cavalry’. He still had only 200 horsemen. On his map he had ringed the village of Vimeiro – twelve miles south of Roliça. It was a short distance from a beach where reinforcements could land, and had clearly defensible ridges running north and west from the village. Just the place to consolidate and build up strength before advancing on Lisbon.


But Wellesley’s spell as an independent commander was about to come to an end. Three days after Roliça, General Sir Harry Burrard, appointed by London as his superior, turned up with reinforcements in the frigate HMS Brazen, in the bay off Vimeiro. It was the evening of 20 August. Wellesley, with his army now at Vimeiro, took a boat out to meet Burrard and told him he was planning to advance the following day. Burrard told Wellesley he was deeply unhappy with the idea of any further move on Lisbon, and certainly none should be made until General Moore’s army of some 20,000 extra troops, only a day or two’s sailing away, could join Sir Arthur’s force. Wellesley, disguising his impatience, asked Burrard if he wanted to come ashore. Burrard, a fifty-three-year-old veteran in the twilight of his career, who had earned himself the nickname ‘Betty’ because his troops thought him a bit of an old woman, said he would prefer to spend one more night afloat. It proved to be one of those strokes of fortune that would help transform Wellesley into the future Duke of Wellington.


Some time that night, after Wellesley had stepped back on shore, he was told that the French were advancing. He must have thanked his luck that Burrard was not ashore, because a cavalry patrol early the following morning led by Sergeant Norbert Landsheit reported that the French were within an hour or two of his front line, clearly seeking a battle. After listening to Landsheit’s account Wellesley ‘gave his orders in a calm, clear and cheerful voice … “Now Gentlemen, go to your stations but let there be no noise made – no sounding of bugles or beating of drums. Get your men quickly under arms and desire all outposts to be on the alert.”’


Wellesley surveyed the ground with care. From the village of Vimeiro ran two ridges – one north, one west. Most of Wellesley’s troops were bivouacking on the western ridge, facing south, the direction from which he expected the French to attack him. His left was just in front of the village, on Vimeiro Hill, whose gentle slopes rise some 150 feet above the valley. He placed about 5,000 of his most trusted troops – with a row of guns – just behind the brow of the hill: the French wouldn’t see them until they were almost upon them. Ahead of these units on the forward slope of Vimeiro Hill and in the undergrowth below he scattered his light troops, the skirmishers, mainly riflemen. Captain Jonathan Leach was among them, with Benjamin Harris in his company, and so was Lieutenant Colonel Sydney Beckwith, leading two companies of the 1st Battalion the 95th Regiment (1/95th). Beckwith had landed from the ships with his 200 men only the night before. He was about to embark on the first of many engagements that were to make him one of the great commanders in the Peninsula, and his regiment – the Rifles – the one most feared by the French.


Leach was out front on picket duty in a pine wood when ‘a cloud of light troops, supported by heavy columns of infantry, entered the wood, and assailing the pickets with great impetuosity, obliged us to fall back …’. Harris was in the middle of so much firing and smoke that all he could see was the red flash of his rifle in the cloud of smoke that enveloped him. ‘The Rifles, as usual, were pretty busy in this battle. The French, in great numbers, came steadily down upon us, and we pelted away upon them like a shower of leaden hail.’ They darted from one piece of cover to the next, ‘firing one moment, jumping up and running for it the next; and, when we could see before us, we observed the cannon balls making a lane through the enemy’s columns as they advanced, huzzaing and shouting like madmen’.


The British guns, which created such havoc among the French, were on the crown of Vimeiro Hill in the hands of Lieutenant Colonel Robe of the Royal Artillery. His gun teams worked tirelessly to make every shot count as the French, in massed columns – thirty men wide by forty-two deep – pushed back the British riflemen by sheer weight of numbers and advanced up the hill with their own light troops probing towards the guns. Robe ordered his men to fire alternate shots: first, roundshot – great heavy cast-iron balls that could shatter whole files of men at several hundred yards – and then canister or case, which sprayed a whole bag of musket balls like a giant shotgun over a wide circle at much shorter range. And they were firing a new type of ammunition as well: the shell, invented only recently by William Shrapnel. It was a hollow roundshot stuffed with musket balls and carrying a further charge within it that caused it to explode on or above the ground, killing or wounding anyone unprotected and within reach. Shrapnel shells were to play a lethal role in conflicts from then on.


But the vigorous artillery fire did not stop the French. Robe shouted to Landmann that he was lucky to have a horse, as some of the French were yards away and would soon be upon them. But when Landmann suggested he get a horse himself, Robe replied, ‘No no. I’ll neither leave my guns nor my gunners.’ The French could not yet see the main British infantry lines waiting concealed behind the guns. By now the French columns – thousands of men in close formation – were close enough for the British to hear shouts of ‘En avant, mes amis!’ and ‘Vive l’Empereur!’ French drums sounded the pas de charge and their pace quickened. The regiment directly ahead of the advancing French was the 50th, known as the Dirty Half-Hundred after the black flashes on their uniforms. As the French came over the brow of the hill, Landmann saw the commanding officer of the 50th, Colonel Walker, advance his troops to the crest, ‘where he gave the words “Ready, present! And let every man fire when he has taken his aim.”’ The result was ‘destruction and carnage’.


The effect of some 800 men in two ranks firing their muskets from very close range ravaged the approaching French columns. ‘I received them in line,’ Wellesley remarked later, ‘which they were not accustomed to.’ Caught before they were able to fan out into long lines abreast where each man could bring his musket to bear, the French were utterly outgunned. Only some thirty men in the front rank of each column were able to fire their weapons at the redcoats who sprang up suddenly from the dead ground just beyond the brow of the hill. And as the French columns hesitated and crumpled, the men of the 50th charged them with their bayonets, yelling and stabbing at the enemy soldiers. The column had proved to be Napoleon’s most successful infantry formation in his battles in central Europe and Italy. A great solid mass of tightly packed French footsoldiers, rank after rank of them, had smashed through enemy defences by concentrating force on a particular point. But now the French columns were faced with long, thin red lines of footsoldiers who stood their ground, and every one of them discharged his musket at point-blank range. Landmann watched as the entire French force turned around and ran, ‘every man throwing away his arms and accoutrements as also his knapsack, cap and, in short, everything that could have obstructed speed’. A force that had advanced proudly just minutes earlier, a dense mass of 5,000 men, disintegrated. It was ‘like an immense flock of sheep scampering away from the much-dreaded shepherd’s dog’.


Wellesley had been watching all this, mobile as ever on horseback, from the eastern ridge. It was quickly apparent to him that Junot had thrown only part of his army at Vimeiro Hill itself, and that he was planning to deliver the second prong of his attack not on the western ridge where Wellesley had placed his troops the night before, but on its twin the other side of Vimeiro – the eastern ridge. Junot had despatched two whole brigades under General Jean-Baptiste Solignac and General Antoine-François Brennier in a great sweep around to the east of Vimeiro. They were aiming for the village of Ventosa on the eastern ridge to threaten Wellesley’s rear. It was a classic tactic: outflank the enemy if you can and make him face two ways at once. At Vimeiro it met two snags. First, Wellesley was ready for it. The moment he saw the great cloud of dust early that morning indicating that Junot was heading round his east side and not towards his troops on the western ridge, he ordered a brisk move by half his army. He left the trusted Hill with some 5,000 troops on the western ridge and shifted all his other units to the eastern ridge to meet any attack Junot made on it.


Junot’s second problem was that the ground his flanking units would have to cover to approach the eastern ridge was hilly and broken. It would be a hard grind, difficult enough for one large force to traverse and maintain cohesion. And Junot took the further risk of dividing this force in two – sending the two brigades off separately but telling their commanders to synchronise their attack on Ventosa. This way he created two weaknesses that would prove fatal to his plans: he concentrated too few troops on the pivot of Wellesley’s deployment – Vimeiro Hill – and he landed his staff with a communications nightmare. They were unable to co-ordinate the movements of the three groups, which soon became separated in rough country.


The main battle was still raging at Vimeiro Hill. Junot had not yet exhausted his attempts to defeat the British there. Around 2,000 French grenadiers, massed this time in even narrower columns, advanced over the same ground and suffered the same fate. Robe’s shrapnel cut swathes through them as they approached. At the finish they were again caught in that tight vulnerable formation before they could expand into line and even fewer of their muskets could be brought to bear on the British. They were shattered.


Junot threw two further attacks at Vimeiro Hill, which suffered the same fate. Then, heavily bruised by these setbacks, he chose a slightly different approach for his next attempt to break through. Where the hill fell away to the north there was a valley that ran up behind it towards the church in the village. He sent two further battalions of grenadiers under General Kellerman to smash their way up this hollow. But they marched straight into an even more murderous killing zone. They found themselves trapped – as they advanced – between the British troops on Vimeiro Hill and a brigade that Wellesley had placed on the other side of the valley. The village was at the top of the valley, and the British were there too. Charles Leslie watched a ‘party of the 43rd light infantry stealing out of the village and moving behind a wall … they opened a fire at the moment when the enemy came in contact … the French had been allowed to come in close, then our gallant fellows, suddenly springing up, rapidly poured on them two or three volleys with great precision, and rushing on, charged with the bayonet’. At the end of this phase of the battle Landmann saw the ground in front of Vimeiro Hill ‘seriously scattered over with killed, wounded, arms, drums, caps, knapsacks, canteens, dead horses, and ammunition wagons … and, where an attempt had been made to deploy to form a line, the dead and dying were in some places … lying in heaps three or four men in height’. It was at this moment that Wellesley ordered the 200 horsemen of the 20th Light Dragoons under Colonel Taylor to make the first cavalry charge of the Peninsular War. Wellesley knew that well-timed cavalry charges against a fleeing enemy could wreak havoc. This would be the first test for the horsemen he had brought with him. Landmann described Colonel Taylor as ‘a particularly handsome fellow’ on a ‘fine prancing horse’. He saw Taylor tying a handkerchief round a wound in his thigh and urged him to get it dressed. ‘I am just going to make a charge,’ replied Taylor. ‘If I survive I shall have plenty of leisure for tending to this trifle. If I fall I shall have spared myself some unnecessary trouble and pain.’


Sergeant Landsheit was one of the horsemen who heard Wellesley shout, ‘Now, 20th, now!’ while ‘his staff clapped their hands and gave us a cheer’. Very quickly Landsheit and the 20th were in among the French cavalry ‘cutting and hacking, and upsetting men and horses … till they broke and fled in every direction’. The dragoons then turned on the infantry, their sabres flashing and slicing at the fleeing footsoldiers ‘till our white leather breeches, our hands, arms and swords were all besmeared with blood’. They raced on as the French gave way all around them and suddenly found they had ‘rushed into an enclosure, where to a man we well nigh perished’ because the enemy ‘hastened to take advantage of our blunder’ by immediately closing the door. The 20th’s ‘blunder’ was to allow a successful charge to turn into a reckless pursuit. They simply went too far. Their initial advantage in numbers and momentum was lost once they were deep into the enemy’s ranks and they found themselves surrounded. They were rescued only by the sudden arrival of the 50th, who had pursued the French down the hill and on to the flatter ground below.


The Rifles too were involved in the pursuit, firing at every Frenchman in sight. Some ran out of ammunition; William Brotherwood ended up ramming his razor down his barrel and loosing it off instead. The exhausted cavalry returned, having lost at least a third of their number killed or wounded. Among the dead was Colonel Taylor, who had been killed after he was surrounded and refused to be taken prisoner. Harris, who had fallen over when the British dragoons rushed past, was lucky not to have died beneath their onrushing hooves. He saw Taylor leading the charge and observed that he ‘bore himself like a hero with his sword waving in the air … dashing upon the enemy, and hewing and slashing at them in tremendous style’. He noticed that the colonel did not return. As he got up, he saw he had been lying beside a dying Frenchman. He raised the soldier’s head and gave him a swig from his water flask. One of his companions, a man named Mullins, ‘damned me for a fool for my pains. “Better knock out his brains Harris … he has done us mischief enough.”’


The charge of the 20th at Vimeiro was the first of a number of cavalry actions over the next seven years – including at Waterloo – in which rash over-enthusiasm led to needless losses. For Wellington this failure of his cavalry became an obsession. ‘They gallop at everything,’ he said later, ‘and never consider their situation.’


Although Junot’s troops had been heartily repulsed at Vimeiro Hill, the French general still had a chance of turning Wellesley’s flank at Ventosa. The trouble was that the two flanking brigades he had sent northwards lost touch with each other and failed to attack together. Moreover they did not know of the dreadful carnage that had resulted from French columns meeting British lines on Vimeiro Hill. The same was now to happen to them at Ventosa, at the north-eastern edge of the battle. The first wave of three French battalions in column under Solignac clambered to the top of a hill where they were suddenly confronted by two long British lines. Thomas Todd was in one of them. He was still a comparative novice, and on entering his first lethal combat he felt a ‘breathless sensation’ come over him. But one look along the British line was enough to strengthen him. ‘The steady determined scowl of my companions assured my heart and gave me determination. How unlike the noisy advance of the French! … They came upon us crying and shouting to the very point of our bayonets. Our awful silence and determined advance they could not stand. They put about and fled without much resistance.’


The seventeen-year-old William Lawrence was one of those involved in the fighting at Ventosa. Back in Bryant’s Piddle in Dorset he had been a ploughboy until his father apprenticed him to a builder who bullied him so much that he ran away. After several escapades Lawrence enlisted with the 40th Regiment of Foot, which now found itself pursuing Solignac. He and his comrades advanced with British guns ‘still playing over our heads until we got within a short distance of the enemy’. They drove the French back only after some ‘very severe fighting well kept up for some time on both sides’.


After a few minutes of welcome rest the British switched their attention to the second attack by Brennier’s brigade, which was caught in a crossfire between a number of British units including the 29th, which had taken such punishment at Roliça. So fierce was the fire that the French did not press home their attack and retired eastwards. The Battle of Vimeiro was over. The French had been thwarted on all fronts. They had lost around 1,500 men – twice as many as the British. It was a rude shock for the French Emperor and for the prestige of his army. They were not in the habit of being defeated on land. Only in Egypt at Aboukir seven years earlier and in a minor engagement at Maida in Italy in 1806 had a British army humbled a land army of post-revolutionary France.


Wellesley was now, not surprisingly, eager for a general pursuit of an utterly demoralised enemy. But he was now sharply reminded that he was not in charge. Sir Harry Burrard had finally landed from HMS Brazen to take command. Wellesley urgently put the case to him for a quick pursuit. ‘Sir Harry, now is your time to advance. The enemy are completely beaten, and we shall be in Lisbon in three days.’ Burrard replied that he thought a great deal had been achieved ‘very much to the credit of the troops’, but he did not think it advisable to move off the ground in pursuit of the enemy. Wellesley riposted that the troops were ‘perfectly ready to advance’. They had ‘plenty of provisions ready cooked in their haversacks, and plenty of ammunition’. But Burrard was adamant. It may have been his natural caution.


It may have been jealousy. He was certainly deeply distrustful of a man he saw as a headstrong general trying to go too far too fast. Wellesley emerged from his meeting with Burrard angry and disappointed. He ‘turned his horse’s head and, with a cold and contemptuous bitterness, said aloud to his ADC “You may think about dinner for there is nothing more for soldiers to do this day.”’ The news spread quickly among the troops. They had been eager to exploit their victory. Now they were ordered to halt, wrote James Hale, ‘in the midst of our glory’ and, as his men murmured impatiently, Wellesley rode up and down saying, ‘I have nothing to do with it: I have no command.’


On the battlefield lay thousands of dead and wounded. Todd witnessed the ‘horrible’ sight of the ‘peasantry prowling about more ferocious than the beasts and birds of prey, finishing the work of death and carrying away whatever they thought worthy of their grasp’. The Portuguese took their revenge on the French who had plundered and laid waste their villages. ‘No fallen Frenchman that showed the least sign of life was spared.’ The peasants even seemed to revel in ‘mangling the dead bodies … my sickened fancy felt the same as if it were witnessing a feast of cannibals’.


Looting the dead wasn’t just the preserve of the Portuguese. Harris used his bayonet to rip open the lining of one dead Frenchman’s coat and helped himself to a fistful of coins. Leslie ‘picked up a bill for several hundred francs payable in Paris’. Landsheit had just turned over a dead Frenchman and taken his watch and three Spanish dollars when a badly wounded French grenadier took a shot at him. Landsheit saw he was wounded and shouted that he would spare him if he put aside his weapon. When the Frenchman started to take aim at him again, Landsheit ‘gave him a rap with my sword which put an end to all his pugnacious propensities’. Looting of the dead or even of the wounded was widespread and too common to incur a penalty. But sometimes people overstepped the mark. After a later battle a British soldier couldn’t get a valuable ring off the finger of one of his own dead countrymen, so he slashed off the finger with his knife. He was spotted and earned himself a court martial and 500 lashes.


Another wretched aftershock of battle was the plight of the wounded. Adam Neale, one of Wellesley’s army surgeons, witnessed scenes that would become commonplace in the Peninsula as the fighting intensified. Scores of wounded lay on the ground or, if they were lucky, on makeshift tables in what passed as field hospitals. Many awaited their turn for the crude remedy of amputation that was preferable to the lethal spread of gangrene from a musket wound. Neale did what he could to lessen the pain of those who were in the greatest agony. ‘To several, a simple inspection of their wounds, with a few words of consolation, or perhaps a little opium, was all that could be done or recommended. Of these brave men the balls had pierced organs essentially connected with life, and in such cases prudence equally forbids the rash interposition of unavailing art and the useless indulgence of delusive hope …’


The final episode in Wellesley’s first, short summer campaign was a controversial ceasefire negotiation that threatened to deliver a fatal blow to his career. The so-called Convention of Cintra was signed nine days after the battle – on 30 August 1808. Its terms caused astonishment and uproar in London. It appeared that Wellesley and his superiors, Burrard and Lieutenant General Sir Hew Dalrymple, who arrived on 22 August, had agreed to a very generous deal for the enemy they had just defeated. The French would evacuate Lisbon, but they would be repatriated to France in British ships and could take with them all their weapons and even the loot they had amassed during their occupation of Portugal. There was such an outcry that Wellesley and the other two generals who had signed the Convention were recalled to appear before a court of inquiry in London later that year.


Wellesley arrived back in London on 4 October. ‘I don’t know whether I am to be hanged, drawn and quartered, or roasted alive,’ he wrote with mock nervousness to his brother Richard. He put a bold face on it, trusting to the reputation he had now established for himself with his victory at Vimeiro. But he and his family had to endure a whole barrage of insults. His most vocal political opponents were the Radical MP and rich brewer Samuel Whitbread and the journalist William Cobbett, whose radical views had won him a wide following. They delighted in the humbling of Wellesley and what Cobbett called his ‘damned infernal’ family, which Cobbett believed far too influential.


Press cartoonists had a field day. Wellesley and his two superiors were ridiculed and lampooned. Byron added a special line to his poem Childe Harold: ‘Britannia sickens, Cintra, at thy name.’ The Whig opposition, whose dovish attitude to Napoleon gave them serious doubts about taking the war to Portugal anyway, lambasted Wellesley and his Tory backers. For his part, Wellesley tried to distance himself from the agreement. He claimed that it was the other two generals who had agreed on detailed clauses like the one that allowed the French to keep what they called ‘their possessions’. He told Castlereagh privately that he would like to have made the French generals ‘disgorge the church plate they had stolen’. But he told the court of inquiry that he agreed with the Convention’s main principle that the French should be allowed to evacuate Portugal. Therefore ‘I did not think it proper to refuse to sign the paper on account of my disagreement on the details.’ It wasn’t until 22 December that the whole damaging controversy was finally resolved with the clearing of the three generals by the court of inquiry. The court took refuge in whitewash and pronounced all three of them blameless. Wellesley was lucky: it was a curious lapse on his part. He may have been exasperated by Burrard and Dalrymple, but he should never have agreed to such lax terms.


Cintra apart, Wellesley had left Lisbon for home with some relief. Constrained by generals senior to him, he would have found it intolerable to stay in the Peninsula any longer. He had written to Castlereagh on 30 August: ‘I feel an earnest desire to quit the army. I have been too successful with this army ever to serve with it in a subordinate situation …’ Once the court of inquiry was out of the way, he scored well with the British public and parliament. He received an effusive vote of thanks in the Lords. Vimeiro was seen, rightly, as a significant victory and a striking humiliation for the French. A delighted Duke of Richmond wrote to his friend: ‘You must have bribed him [Junot] to attack you when he did!’ The unfortunate Junot soldiered on until his volatile nature got the better of him, and he committed suicide by throwing himself out of a window in 1813.


Wellesley’s lightning military campaign had been a stunning success. He left behind him an army in the Peninsula which for the most part admired him but hardly loved him. He showed none of the obvious humanity of commanders like Hill and Beckwith. But the men knew that, although Wellesley might regard them with disdain, he provided what they needed – confident leadership and tireless concern for their needs. His deft switching of the units at Vimeiro, his use of dead ground, his obsession with supplies and his tireless presence in all areas of the battlefield marked him out already as an exceptional commander.





3
Scum of the earth



Oporto, 1809


WELLESLEY’S PRIVATE LIFE that winter was as troubled as his public image. His marriage to Kitty Pakenham began to show strains. It was partly his fault. Sensitivity and warmth were qualities he showed only on rare occasions in his long life. But these were the very feelings his gentle, affectionate wife longed for. She obviously adored, almost worshipped him. This irritated him and prompted him to be increasingly cold with her. She complained to her relations that he was neglecting her and as time went on she retreated more and more into self-pity. She made things worse by lending her younger brother, Henry Pakenham, money to pay off a gambling debt. Wellesley was incensed and never forgave her.


It wasn’t long before he strayed into other relationships, one of them with the notorious Harriette Wilson, a London courtesan, whose vitality and sexual charms won her many friends in high places. Whether or not they actually slept together, he later admitted they were close. He revealed he had given her money when she was in debt. And he was not as embarrassed as her other clients when she chose to tell all. Twenty years later, when the publisher of Harriette’s planned autobiography tried to blackmail him, the Duke of Wellington was widely reputed to have fired back, in effect, if not in actual words, ‘Publish and be damned.’ She published accounts of several conversations she said she had had with him, including his farewell as he left for the Peninsula later in 1809. ‘He called to take a hasty leave of me a few hours before his departure. “I am off to Spain directly,” he said. I know not how it was but I grew melancholy … I saw him there perhaps for the last time in my life … I burst into tears … kissing my eyes, he said “God bless you” and hurried away.’


There was already the whiff of scandal around the Wellesley family. Charlotte, the wife of Arthur Wellesley’s younger brother William, was cavorting with one of Arthur’s senior military colleagues, and suddenly sparked a blazing public scandal by running off with him. He was Lieutenant General Henry Paget, fast establishing himself as Britain’s most promising cavalry commander. He had been out to Portugal just after Vimeiro and stayed at Wellesley’s house for two days in Lisbon. In a letter to his father, Lord Uxbridge, Paget wrote that he admired Wellesley: ‘I had during that time an opportunity of observing that he [Wellesley] possesses much method and arrangement. He is besides the luckiest dog upon earth, for it is by a sort of miracle … that he has been able to do this by himself.’ He went on to say he regretted that, because he was senior to Wellesley on the list of generals, he could hardly take part in the Peninsular Campaign if Wellesley was to command it. ‘I feel it is a real misfortune to me as a soldier that I am above him on the list for I think there is a good chance of its cutting me from all service.’ When Arthur Wellesley learned that Paget had eloped with his sister-in-law, he was scandalised. One newspaper reported that he punched Paget in the stomach. Charlotte eventually married Paget in 1810, and by 1815 Arthur, then Duke of Wellington, and Henry Paget, then Lord Uxbridge, were sufficiently reconciled to form a winning partnership at Waterloo.


Wellesley was now back in a job he had had before he went to Portugal – the Tory government’s Chief Secretary for Ireland. But his mind was never far from events in the Peninsula where prospects for Britain and its allies had taken a severe turn for the worse. In November 1808 Napoleon decided to visit the Peninsula himself. Exasperated by the French loss of Portugal and by his brother Joseph’s failure to entrench his rule in Spain and stamp out the Spanish rebellion, he led a massively reinforced French army against Spanish resistance forces. He defeated and scattered the rebels wherever he went. Britain’s response was to despatch the army, which Wellesley had commanded, into Spain under the command of Lieutenant General Sir John Moore. Moore was one of the few generals Wellesley respected, but his campaign was a near-disaster. He scored some early successes in December against a few isolated French units. But, seeing his army outnumbered by a force led by Napoleon, he opted for withdrawal. After three weeks of wretched and debilitating retreat, Moore’s army reached Corunna in north-west Spain. Napoleon went home, leaving Marshal Soult to finish off Moore. Only Moore’s tactical skill and exemplary leadership managed to foil Soult’s attempt to eliminate his army. Although Moore himself was fatally wounded, most of the British force escaped. They scrambled aboard a fleet of ships in Corunna harbour and made it safely back to Britain. The core units of Britain’s fast-maturing army thus survived to fight another day. But the army’s departure left the Portuguese with only a small British force to protect Lisbon. They appealed urgently to London to help them boost the size of Portugal’s own army and said they wanted Wellesley to lead it.


The British government was in a quandary. Successive Tory administrations had opposed French expansion – from the one led by William Pitt the Younger that began the fight against revolutionary France in the 1790s to the current government of Lord Portland. The Whigs, mainly in opposition, frequently questioned the need for war and highlighted its cost. The most radical had supported the French Revolution and called for peace with Napoleon. The war’s main proponents were George Canning, the energetic Foreign Secretary, and the War Secretary Lord Castlereagh, Canning’s ally but at the same time his fiercely ambitious political rival. Wellesley’s greatest supporter in the cabinet in the past had been Castlereagh, but now it was Canning who pushed for him to be sent to help the Portuguese while Castlereagh briefly opposed the scheme. He hadn’t turned against Wellington but felt it might be the wrong moment to switch commanders. The outcome, on 15 February 1809, was that Canning persuaded his colleagues to send out a junior and much less distinguished officer, Major General William Carr Beresford, to command the newly emerging Portuguese army. It turned out to be an inspired appointment. Marshal Beresford, as he now became, had only one eye, a poor military record and a reputation for obstinacy. But over the next few years he was to hone the Portuguese troops into a well-drilled fighting force which provided Wellesley with valuable extra manpower.
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